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SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK
COUNTY OF NEW YORK

x

Index No.:

LABMD, INC. and MICHAEL J. DAUGHERTY,
Complaint

Plaintiffs,
Plaintiff designates New York

-against-
County as the place of trial

MARY BETH BUCHANAN and BRYAN CAVE Basis of venue: CPLR § 503

LEIGHTON PAISNER LLP, (county of residence of party)

Defendants.

x

COMPLAINT

Plaintiffs LabMD, Inc. ("LabMD") and Michael J. Daugherty ("Daugherty"), by and

through their undersigned counsel, bring this action against Defendants Mary Beth Buchanan

("Buchanan") and Bryan Cave Leighton Paisner LLP ("BCLP"), for money damages resulting

from
Defendants'

negligent omissions, fraudulent omissions, inducing or participating in breach

of fiduciary duty, and violations of Judiciary Law § 487. LabMD and Daugherty allege the

following:

SUMMARY AND NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. In January 2015, Buchanan, a former U.S. Attorney for the Western District of

Pennsylvania, began representing Richard E. Wallace ("Wallace") in his role as a whistleblower

who testified on behalf of LabMD on May 5, 2015, in an enforcement action filed by the Federal

Trade Commission against LabMD. Buchanan's representation of Wallace was a violation of the

Ethics in Government Act. Under 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1), Buchanan, a former employee of the

executive branch of the United States, knowingly made with the intent to influence a

communication to or appearance before an officer or employee of the United States (including,
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without limitation, FTC Chief Administrative Law Judge Michael D. Chappell and FTC

employees Alain Sheer, Laura VanDruff, Jarad Brown, Bob Schoshinski, Dan Kaufman and

Christopher Olsen) of an agency of the United States (the Federal Trade Commission) on behalf

of Wallace in connection with a particular matter in which Buchanan had personally and

substantially participated as U.S. Attorney (Wallace's use of a government surveillance tool to

identify perpetrators and gather incriminating evidence for Buchanan to use in her prosecutions).

2. Buchanan, during her tenure as a partner in BCLP, kept her violation of 18 U.S.C.

§ 207(a)(1) secret in order to maintain an income stream from her representation of the

whistleblower (BCLP billed the whistleblower over $500,000 in fees) and to conceal her

connection to numerous frauds and crimes committed by Wallace's former employer.

3. Buchanan and BCLP kept Buchanan's violations of 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) secret

by directing Wallace not to testify about his prior work with Buchanan and, in particular, not to

disclose his and his former employer's commercial and illegal use of the FBI surveillance software

and equipment (the "FBI Surveillance Tool") authorized by Buchanan. Specifically, Wallace used

the FBI Surveillance Tool to hack into and take from a computer at a cancer detection laboratory

in Atlanta, Georgia, a file containing confidential information on over 9,000 patients. That file

was owned by LabMD. It was used by Wallace's former employer, Tiversa, a so-called

cybersecurity firm, in a shakedown effort where Tiversa claimed that it found the file on several

computers in cyberspace and threatened to report LabMD to the FTC for leaking the file if LabMD

refused to pay Tiversa for
"remediation"

services. When LabMD refused to pay, Tiversa followed

through on its threat by falsely claiming to the FTC that it found LabMD's file on the computers

of known identify thieves who originally took the file from LabMD using off-the-shelf software

that anyone could download from the internet for free.

2
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4. Thanks to Buchanan and BCLP, Tiversa successfully concealed what it actually

used to locate, access and download LabMD's file until 2017 when Wallace disclosed to

Daugherty, LabMD's owner and chief executive officer, that, as a Tiversa employee, he used the

FBI Surveillance Tool provided by Buchanan to locate, access and download LabMD's file. This

disclosure came long after LabMD needed the evidence to defend itself in an administrative

enforcement action filed by the FTC that was fueled by Tiversa's false testimony and fabricated

evidence.

5. Since June 2014, Daugherty and Wallace have been partners in a joint venture to

collect proceeds from Tiversa for Tiversa's violations of the False Claims Act. Buchanan and

BCLP were aware of Daugherty and Wallace's fiduciary relationship with one another and were

further aware of the relevance of Wallace's use of the FBI Surveillance Tool, yet they directed

Wallace to conceal his and Tiversa's use of that tool, and thereby breach his fiduciary duty to

Daugherty, in order to conceal Buchanan's involvement and consequent violations of 18 U.S.C. §

207(a)(1). Wallace would not have breached his fiduciary duty to Daugherty but for Buchanan

and BCLP's inducement and participation in that breach. Buchanan and BCLP's conduct

jeopardized and damaged Daugherty and Wallace's partnership and caused significant harm to

Daugherty and LabMD.

6. In addition, Buchanan and BCLP are liable to Daugherty and LabMD for treble

damages because, in violation of Judiciary Law § 487, Buchanan and BCLP deceived and

colluded, and consented to deceit and collusion with the intent to deceive, a court, LabMD and

Daugherty.

3
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PARTIES

7. Daugherty is a resident and citizen of the state of Georgia and is over 18 years of

age.

8. LabMD is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the state of

Georgia. Its principal place of business is located in Fulton County, Georgia.

9. Buchanan is a resident and citizen of the state of New York and is over 18 years of

age. On information and belief, Buchanan resides at 253 W. 73"1 St. Apt. 9G, New York, NY

10023.

10. Defendant BCLP is a limited liability partnership formed under the laws of

Missouri. Its New York office is located at 1290 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10104.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

11. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action.

12. Buchanan is subject to the personal jurisdiction of this Court because she is a

resident of the state of New York and she committed tortious acts within the state of New York.

13. BCLP is subject to the personal jurisdiction of this Court because there is a

connection between BCLP's presence in New York and the claims at issue. In addition, BCLP (1)

is registered to do business in the state of New York; (2) transacts business within the state of New

York; (3) contracts business outside of the state to supply services in the state of New York; (4)

committed tortious acts against LabMD and Daugherty within the state of New York; and (5)

owns, uses or possesses real property situated within the state of New York.

14. Venue is appropriate in this Court because one or more of the parties reside in New

York County and because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claims

herein occurred in New York County.

4
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FACTS

15. From 2001 through approximately January 2014, LabMD was a cancer detection

laboratory in Atlanta, Georgia, providing urologists with cancer diagnoses.

16. Daugherty is the chief executive officer and sole shareholder of LabMD.

17. Buchanan served as U.S. Attorney for the Western District of Pennsylvania from

September 14, 2001, through November 16, 2009.

18. In October 2013, Buchanan became a partner in BCLP where she practiced law as

a BCLP partner until on or about May 3, 2018. Soon after May 3, 2018, Buchanan became the

general counsel for Kraken, a bitcoin exchange operator.

19. In 2004, Robert J. Boback ("Boback"), a chiropractor, and Sam Hopkins, a high

school dropout, started Tiversa, Inc. ("Tiversa"), a so-called cybersecurity company located in

Pittsburgh, PA. Tiversa offered breach detection, remediation and P2P1 intelligence services to its

customers.

20. Tiversa's business model included the use of various technologies to search for,

hack, access and download computer files from computers on P2P networks. Tiversa collected all

kinds of material including "massive amounts of child pornography and classified government

documents."2

21. After hacking files from their owners, Tiversa would then try to sell its remediation

services to the individuals, companies and government agencies that allegedly leaked the files. As

1 A peer-to-peer network ("P2P") is a network of computers that is configured to allow certain

files and folders to be shared between individual computer users via the internet. Napster, Gnutella

and KaZaA are examples of P2P networks. LimeWire, Morpheus and BearShare are examples of

free download applications (a/k/a clients) people have used to exchange files over the internet.
2 Staff of Comm. On Oversight & Gov't Reform, 113th Cong., Tiversa, Inc.: White Knight or

High-Tech Protection Racket? 67 (2015) (Prepared for Chairman Darrell E. Issa) ("OGR Report)
at 4, 15. A true and correct copy of the OGR Report is attached hereto and marked as Exhibit A.
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part of its sales efforts, Tiversa would falsely claim that it found the
"leaked"

files in cyberspace

on the computers of known bad actors such as identity thieves. Because Tiversa's hacking and

theft of files violated numerous state and federal criminal statutes, Tiversa never disclosed the fact

that it was accessing and taking files directly from the computers of its victims. According to

Tiversa, every file it
"found"

was publicly available.

22. Wallace was the Director of Special Operations for Tiversa from 2007 until April

2014. In 2013, Wallace was recognized for his work identifying online child pornographers and

volunteer community activities when he received the FBI Director's Community Leadership

Award from FBI Director Robert Mueller and the Investigative Excellence Award from the FBI-

LEEDA Executive Board.

23. In or around 2007, Buchanan, as U.S. Attorney for the Western District of

Pennsylvania, called upon Tiversa, Boback and Wallace to help her office identify, locate, surveil,

secure evidence from and prosecute child pornographers. She authorized the Pittsburgh FBI office

to install a dedicated DSL line in Wallace's home office in order for him to access and use FBI

proprietary surveillance software and equipment (i.e., the FBI Surveillance Tool) to search and

seize evidence from the computers of child pornographers. Wallace and Tiversa thereby became

federal agents for Buchanan and her office and the Pittsburgh office of the FBI.

24. With Tiversa, Boback and Wallace's assistance, Buchanan convicted hundreds of

child pornographers.

25. In 2007, Tiversa and the Federal Trade Commission began a confidential,

cooperative relationship. Tiversa's role was to search the peer-to-peer networks on the internet to

find targets for FTC investigations and prosecutions of individuals and companies that allegedly

violated Section 5 of the FTC Act by failing to take adequate measures to prevent confidential

6
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consumer information from leaking into cyberspace. On behalf of the federal government, Tiversa

used several technologies, including the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan, to search

for and seize computer files of U.S. citizens without a warrant or probable cause.

26. On February 25, 2008, while Tiversa and Wallace were working with Buchanan's

office, Wallace used the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan for commercial and illegal

purposes. Specifically, Wallace used the tool to locate, access and download from a LabMD

billing computer in Atlanta, Georgia, a 1,718-page LabMD file containing confidential personal

health information (the "1718 File").3

27. On May 13, 2008, Boback called LabMD to inform it that Tiversa had
"found"

LabMD's 1718 File on the internet and that Tiversa was available to help LabMD remediate the

alleged leak of the file. Boback concealed the fact that Tiversa had used the FBI Surveillance Tool

authorized by Buchanan to locate, access and download the 1718 File and that the file was found

exclusively on a LabMD computer.

28. Boback later falsely told LabMD that Tiversa could see individuals searching for

and downloading the 1718 File from various computers on the internet. Daugherty, LabMD's

chief executive officer, was suspicious and did not fall for the scheme.

29. When Boback learned that Daugherty refused to pay for Tiversa's remediation

services, Boback said to Wallace, "f--- him, make sure he's at the top of the
list."

The
"list"

was

a spreadsheet of approximately 100 companies Tiversa would soon give the FTC. The list was

limited to companies whose files were taken by Tiversa and who refused to hire Tiversa to

remediate Tiversa's breaches.

3 Tiversa's download, retention and subsequent distribution of the 1718 File was in violation of

several state and federal crimes, including 42 U.S.C. § 1320d-6 (Unlawful Possession and Use of

Personal Health Information). This was just one of many crimes regularly committed by Tiversa.

7
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30. Tiversa provided its list to the FTC, and the FTC relied upon that list, Tiversa's

testimony and files Tiversa hacked from unsuspecting computer owners for the FTC's

investigations and prosecutions and to garner publicity. On February 22, 2010, for example, the

FTC announced that it notified "almost 100
organizations"

about data breaches that occurred on

peer-to-peer file sharing networks. It opened non-public investigations into several of the

companies.4 One of those companies was LabMD.

31. The FTC's investigation of LabMD lasted over three and a half years. The FTC

never revealed the fact that Tiversa found and downloaded the 1718 File exclusively from a

LabMD billing computer in Atlanta nor did it reveal the fact that Tiversa and Wallace used the

FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to identify targets for FTC investigations and

prosecutions, including LabMD.

32. The FTC filed an administrative enforcement action (the "Enforcement Action")

against LabMD on August 28, 2013, alleging that LabMD had violated Section 5 of the FTC Act

by failing to have adequate measures in place to protect confidential consumer information from

leaking into cyberspace. The FTC relied exclusively upon Tiversa's documents and testimony

from Tiversa's chief executive officer that Tiversa's automated and patented Eagle Vision

software program had allegedly found LabMD's 1718 File in cyberspace on computers of known

identity thieves and other bad actors. In particular, Tiversa's documents and testimony purported

to show that Tiversa found copies of LabMD's 1718 File on computers in Arizona, San Diego,

Costa Rica and London. But the testimony was false and the documents were fabricated. In truth,

4 Press Release, FTC, Widespread Data Breaches Uncovered by FTC Probe (Feb. 22, 2010),
available at http://www.ftc.gov/news-events/press-releases/2010/02/widespread-data-breaches-

uncovered-ftc-probe (last visited on November 21, 2018).

8
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Tiversa had used the FBI Surveillance Tool to locate, access and download the 1718 File solely

from a LabMD computer in Atlanta, Georgia and never found the file anywhere else.

33. In January 2014, LabMD attempted to depose Wallace during discovery in the

Enforcement Action. Tiversa resisted and ultimately terminated Wallace after Wallace told

Boback that he would not lie under oath. On April 2 and 3, 2014, shortly after his termination,

Wallace blew the whistle on Tiversa by disclosing the following to Daugherty:

- Wallace was the Tiversa employee who found the 1718 File;

- Boback's testimony in the Enforcement Action about where the 1718 File was found was

false. Tiversa did not find copies of the 1718 File on computers in Arizona, San Diego,
Costa Rica and London;

- Wallace used a standalone computer to locate, access and download the 1718 File directly
from a LabMD computer in Atlanta, Georgia;

- Tiversa never found the 1718 File anywhere other than on a LabMD computer in Atlanta;

- Tiversa manipulated metadata on files taken from LabMD to make it appear as if Tiversa

had found the 1718 File on computers of known bad actors such as identity thieves and

other criminals; and

- Tiversa made false representations to agencies of the U.S. Government to induce them to

award contracts to Tiversa.

34. In the spring of 2014, Wallace and Daugherty decided to become partners in a team

effort where Daugherty would pursue damages and penalties against Tiversa and Boback on behalf

of the United States under the False Claims Act. Wallace and Daugherty agreed to share in the

proceeds that might be recovered in that action, as allowed by law.

35. By agreement dated June 19, 2014, Wallace and Daugherty retained Jennifer

Verkamp and her firm, Morgan Verkamp, to jointly represent them as partners to pursue a recovery

for Tiversa and Boback's violations of the False Claims Act.

9
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36. Wallace and Daugherty owed and continue to owe one another a fiduciary duty in

their partnership. This duty includes the duty to disclose facts that are relevant to the pursuit of

recoveries under the False Claims Act, including the fact that Wallace, on information and belief,

used the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, access and download files

Tiversa used in connection with false claims it made against the federal government and

contractors.

37. The Wallaces and Daugherty had and continue to have a special or privity-like

relationship of trust and confidence which imposes on one another a duty to provide correct and

complete information and not to omit information that would be helpful to their partnership.

38. In furtherance of Daugherty and the Wallace's decision to pursue False Claims Act

recoveries as a partnership and their June 19, 2014 agreement to help one another and act as a

team, Daugherty, as relator, filed a qui tam lawsuit in United States of America ex rel. Michael J.

Daugherty v. Tiversa Holding Corp., et al., on June 245, 2014, in the United States District Court

for the Southern District of New York, Civil Action No. 14-cv-4548 (the Qui Tam Action).

Daugherty was represented by Jennifer Verkamp.

39. In the summer of 2014, Daugherty expressed concern to the U.S. House of

Representatives Oversight and Government Reform Committee (the "OGR Committee") about

both the relationship between the FTC and Tiversa and the veracity of the information provided

by Tiversa to the FTC. The OGR Committee initiated an investigation into the business practices

of Tiversa and its relationship with the Federal Trade Commission. As noted in its investigative

findings, the Committee uncovered many of Tiversa's fraudulent business practices:

Several years ago, Tiversa CEO Robert Boback began perpetrating a scheme in which at

least one Tiversa employee manipulated documents legitimately found on the peer-to-peer

network to show that the documents had spread throughout the peer-to-peer network. For

example, Tiversa downloaded a file that computer A shared on a peer-to-peer network.

10
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The file could be copied and the metadata easily manipulated thoroughly [sic] widely-

accessible computer software programs to make it appear that it had been downloaded by
computers B, C, and D, and thus spread throughout the peer-to-peer network. Tiversa

relied on the manipulated documents to create a need for their
"remediation"

services and

to grow the company's reputation through press statements and manipulation of media

contacts. Boback told media contacts that certain documents, including sensitive

government documents, spread throughout the peer-to-peer network when in fact they had

not.

According to a whistleblower, Tiversa not only provided the manipulated information to

its clients, but in some instances also provided false documents to various entities of the

United States government, including the Congress and several agencies. Not only is this

unethical, but it is illegal to give false information to the United States government. It is

also illegal to obstruct a congressional investigation by providing false information to a

congressional committee.5

40. As to Tiversa's relationship with the FTC, the OGR Committee observed the

following:

Tiversa's interactions with the FTC raise questions about the propriety of the relationship.

Both Tiversa and the FTC have characterized the relationship as nominal. Overwhelming
evidence produced to the Committee, however, demonstrates mutually-beneficial

collaboration, wherein the FTC obtained information validated its regulatory authority, and

Tiversa gained an ally in a powerful federal agency that provided actionable information

that it exploited for monetary gain. Unfortunately, this relationship existed at the expense

of good government.6

41. Further results of the OGR Committee's investigation are found in the OGR Report

published on January 5, 2015, which is attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by

reference. The OGR Report was embargoed until Wallace's May 5, 2015 testimony in the

Enforcement Action.

42. In the summer and fall of 2014. Wallace, who was initially represented by William

Burke of Quinn Emanuel, pursued a grant of criminal immunity in order to cooperate with the

OGR Committee's investigation and to testify in the Enforcement Action on behalf of LabMD.

5 Exhibit A hereto, OGR Report at 6.
6 Id. at 54.
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43. LabMD's law firm paid Quinn Emanuel $100,000 in
attorneys'

fees to help Wallace

secure criminal immunity so he could testify fully and freely on behalf of LabMD in the

Enforcement Action without fear of prosecution or self-incrimination. During Burke's

representation of Wallace, Wallace provided the OGR Committee numerous documents and at

least one hard drive from the computer he used to hack files on behalf of Tiversa. Evidence of

Tiversa's commercial and illegal use of the FBI Surveillance Tool is believed to be on that hard

drive. Wallace did not have a Fifth Amendment self-incrimination privilege protecting

information on that hard drive from disclosure. And even if he had such a privilege, his lawyers

waived that privilege when they produced the hard drive to Congress.

44. Daugherty and LabMD would not learn about Tiversa and Wallace's access to and

use of the FBI Surveillance Tool to access and download the 1718 File until 2017.

45. Burke's representation of Wallace ceased in late June 2014. Wallace was next

represented by Claudia Callaway of Katten Muchin Rosenman.

46. On November 14, 2014, Wallace was granted immunity pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §

6004 and 28 C.F.R. § 0.175(a). This grant of immunity was for Wallace's testimony in the

Enforcement Action only. He was never granted immunity in the OGR investigation.

47. In late 2014, after his production of documents and the hard drive to Congress,

Wallace terminated Ms. Callaway and, on his own initiative, engaged Buchanan to represent him

in connection with his document production and immunized testimony in the Enforcement Action.

48. Buchanan and BCLP learned right away that Wallace and Daugherty were partners

in a team effort to pursue damages and penalties against Tiversa and Boback on behalf of the

United States under the False Claims Act and to share in the proceeds Daugherty might recover in

the Qui Tam Action, as allowed by law.
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49. On information and belief, from the outset of the relationship between Buchanan

and Wallace in late 2014, Buchanan and BCLP advised and directed Wallace not to cooperate with

Daugherty or LabMD on any matter or in any fashion. Buchanan and BCLP were aware of

Daugherty and Wallace's fiduciary relationship with one another, were aware of the relevance of

Wallace's use of the FBI Surveillance Tool, knew that Wallace had produced evidence of his use

of the FBI Surveillance Tool to Congress without any immunity and knew that Wallace's

testimony of his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool would be covered by the immunity granted to

him on November 14, 2014, yet they directed Wallace to conceal his and Tiversa's use of that tool

and thereby breach Wallace's fiduciary duties to Daugherty. There was no legitimate reason for

Buchanan and BCLP to direct Wallace not to disclose his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool. To

the contrary, Daugherty needed to know about the use of that tool in connection with the Qui Tam

Action, LabMD needed to know about it for use in the Enforcement Action and Wallace, Daugherty

and LabMD needed to use that information in defense of Boback and Tiversa's defamation claims

against them (see discussion of the Defamation Action below). Buchanan and BCLP directed

Wallace to breach his fiduciary duty by concealing his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool for the

sole purpose of concealing Buchanan's involvement and consequent violations of 18 U.S.C. §

207(a)(1). Wallace would never have breached his fiduciary duties to Daugherty but for Buchanan

and BCLP's insistence that he breach those duties.

50. Buchanan and BCLP's insistence that Wallace breach his fiduciary duties to

Daugherty continued for approximately four years and caused considerable damage to the

partnership between Wallace and Daugherty as well as Wallace in the Defamation and Qui Tam

Actions and Daugherty and LabMD in several lawsuits including, without limitation, the
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Enforcement, Qui Tam and Defamation Actions. Again, Wallace would never have breached his

fiduciary duties to Daugherty but for Buchanan and BCLP's insistence that he do so.

51. As Wallace's counsel, Buchanan and BCLP were duty bound not to interfere with

Wallace's fiduciary relationship with Daugherty yet they did so anyway.

52. Buchanan and BCLP responded to a December 30, 2014 subpoena served by the

FTC on Wallace. The subpoena called for Wallace to produce documents responsive to the

following requests:

1. All Documents related to LabMD, Inc. and/or the 1718 File.

2. All Documents related to the IP Address List introduced at trial as CX0019.

3. All Documents, including personnel files, that relate to your duties, formal or

informal performance evaluations, disciplinary records, and promotion,

demotion, or termination from Tiversa.

53. Buchanan received Wallace's client file from Wallace's prior counsel in February

2015, including a hard drive from the computer Wallace used at his home office for his work as a

Tiversa employee. Wallace had earlier produced that hard drive to the OGR Committee without

any claim of privilege.

54. In response to the December 30, 2014 subpoena served on their client, Buchanan

and her associate Jacquelyn Schell produced a number of documents in Wallace's possession to

the Federal Trade Commission and LabMD. Even though the document requests encompassed

the hard drive and even though Wallace had earlier produced the hard drive to Congress without

any immunity, Buchanan and BCLP failed and refused to produce to the FTC or LabMD the hard

drive or any documents evidencing what software and equipment Wallace used to locate, access

and download the 1718 File. In so failing, Buchanan and BCLP caused Wallace, again, to violate
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his fiduciary duties to Daugherty. Wallace would not have breached his fiduciary duties to

Daugherty but for Buchanan and BCLP's inducement and participation in that breach.

55. Buchanan and BCLP had superior knowledge of the essential fact that Wallace used

the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, access and download the 1718 File.

56. Buchanan and BCLP continued to withhold from LabMD the information and

documentation evidencing Wallace's use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan

for several years.

57. Buchanan and BCLP's continued efforts to withhold that information from

LabMD, including their advice to Wallace that Wallace not cooperate or assist Daugherty or

LabMD, constituted a continuing tort.

58. On February 12, 2015, Buchanan filed a Notice of Appearance as Wallace's

counsel in the Enforcement Action.

59. Under 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1), Buchanan was permanently restricted from making

such an appearance.

60. Buchanan's representation of Wallace in the Enforcement Action violated 18

U.S.C. § 207(a)(1). Punishment for a violation of this statute is found in 18 U.S.C. § 216, which

provides, "[w]hoever willfully engages in the conduct constituting the offense [including 18

U.S.C. § 207] shall be imprisoned for not more than five years or fined in the amount set forth in

this title, or
both."

61. On information and belief, Buchanan's associate Jacquelyn Schell was at all times

aware that Buchanan participated personally and substantially as U.S. Attorney with Wallace,

Boback and Tiversa and that Buchanan's representation of Wallace in the Enforcement Action was

a violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).

15
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62. On April 29, 2015, shortly before Wallace's testimony in the Enforcement Action,

Buchanan and her partner Daniel C. Schwartz met in Washington, D.C. with the following

individuals from the Federal Trade Commission to negotiate arrangements for Wallace's

upcoming testimony:

Laura VanDruff (Lead Complaint Counsel);

Jarad Brown (Complaint Counsel);

Robert Kaye (Chief Litigation Counsel for the Bureau of Consumer Protection);

Bob Schoshinski (Assistant Director, Division of Privacy & Identity Protection);

Dan Kauffman (Deputy Director, Bureau of Consumer Protection); and

Christopher Olsen (Deputy Director, Bureau of Consumer Protection)

63. Although her client was a key witness for LabMD, Buchanan did not inform

LabMD's counsel that she was meeting with the FTC to negotiate arrangements for Wallace's

testimony.

64. By failing to invite and involve LabMD's counsel in Buchanan's discussions with

the FTC, Buchanan and BCLP continued to induce and participate in Wallace's violations of his

fiduciary duties to Daugherty.

65. Buchanan made a proffer of evidence at the meeting, the reasons for and particulars

of which are unknown.

66. There was no legitimate reason for Buchanan to meet with the FTC because (1)

Wallace had already received a grant of criminal immunity from the U.S. government and (2) there

was no legitimate reason for Buchanan to discuss Wallace's anticipated testimony with the FTC,

especially without participation by LabMD's counsel.

16
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67. On information and belief, Buchanan's partner Daniel C. Schwartz was at all times

aware that Buchanan had earlier participated personally and substantially as U.S. Attorney with

Wallace, Boback and Tiversa and that Buchanan's representation of Wallace in the Enforcement

Action violated 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).

68. On information and belief, BCLP was at all times aware that Buchanan had earlier

participated personally and substantially as U.S. Attorney with Wallace, Boback and Tiversa and

that Buchanan's representation of Wallace in the Enforcement Action violated 18 U.S.C. §

207(a)(1).

69. On information and belief, FTC employees Laura VanDruff, Jarad Brown, Robert

Kaye; Bob Schoshinski; Dan Kauffman; and Christopher Olsen were aware on April 29, 2015 and

before, that Buchanan's representation of Wallace in the Enforcement Action violated 18 U.S.C. §

207(a)(1).

70. On information and belief, FTC employees Laura VanDruff, Jarad Brown, Robert

Kaye; Bob Schoshinski; Dan Kauffman; and Christopher Olsen used their knowledge of

Buchanan's violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) to secure Buchanan's agreement to limit Wallace's

testimony in the Enforcement Action and to direct Wallace not to disclose during his testimony the

fact that (1) since 2007, Tiversa and Wallace were acting as government agents on behalf of the

FTC; (2) for several years, Tiversa and Wallace had acted on behalf of the FTC to locate and seize

evidence from U.S. citizens in violation of their Fourth Amendment rights; (3) Wallace located,

accessed and downloaded the 1718 File with the FBI Surveillance Tool Buchanan had authorized

and arranged for Tiversa and Wallace to use; and (4) FTC attorney Alain Sheer told Boback that

the FTC needed evidence of
"spread"

to show that Tiversa had found the 1718 File on multiple

computers in cyberspace and that Tiversa needed Tiversa to have found the file on more than the
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LabMD computer to bring an enforcement action against LabMD. In exchange for Buchanan's

agreement, FTC employees Laura VanDruff, Jarad Brown, Robert Kaye; Bob Schoshinski; Dan

Kauffman; and Christopher Olsen agreed to keep Buchanan's violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207 secret.

71. Neither LabMD nor its counsel were invited to or even aware of Buchanan's April

29, 2015 meeting with the FTC.7 Prior to that meeting, LabMD's counsel in the Enforcement

Action, William Sherman, left many messages for Buchanan to call him to discuss Wallace's

testimony. Instead of returning his calls, and after her meeting with the FTC, Buchanan called

Jennifer Verkamp who, as noted above, was jointly representing the Wallaces and Daugherty as

partners in pursuit of proceeds based on Tiversa and Boback's violations of the False Claims Act.

Jennifer Verkamp did not represent LabMD.

72. Buchanan, as Verkamp's co-counsel for Wallace, misrepresented and omitted facts

as she persuaded Verkamp that it would be best for the partnership between Wallace and

Daugherty and for LabMD that Buchanan handle LabMD's re-direct examination of Wallace

during his upcoming testimony in the Enforcement Action. Buchanan told Verkamp that she was

in the best position to solicit the broadest and most complete testimony from Wallace regarding

his actions while employed by Tiversa. In truth, Buchanan misrepresented her intentions to

Verkamp and omitted essential facts. Buchanan wanted to handle LabMD's re-direct examination

of Wallace in order to continue concealing her violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207.

73. Buchanan and BCLP capitalized on the fact that Verkamp was representing

Wallace because they considered their discussions with Verkamp to be covered by Verkamp,

Buchanan and BCLP's attorney-client privileged relationship.

7 LabMD only recently learned about that meeting from documents produced by the FTC pursuant

to a FOIA request.
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74. Verkamp, in furtherance of the partnership between Wallace and Daugherty,

thereafter recommended to Daugherty that Buchanan be permitted to handle LabMD's re-direct

examination of Wallace. Based on Buchanan's representations to her, Verkamp assured

Daugherty that Buchanan was in the best position to solicit the broadest and most complete

testimony from Wallace regarding his actions while employed by Tiversa.

75. Sherman, as lead counsel for LabMD in the Enforcement Action, was initially

reluctant to agree to Buchanan's proposal that she handle LabMD's re-direct examination of

Wallace. To secure his consent, Buchanan told Sherman by telephone on April 29, 2014, that

Wallace would testify that he heard FTC attorney Alain Sheer tell Boback that the FTC needed

evidence of
"spread"

to show that Tiversa had found the 1718 File on multiple computers in

cyberspace and that the FTC told Tiversa that they needed to have the file found on more than the

LabMD computer to bring an enforcement action against LabMD. Sherman, on behalf of LabMD,

reasonably relied upon Buchanan's representations and thereafter agreed to allow Buchanan to

handle LabMD's redirect examination of Wallace.

76. On May 1, 2015, Buchanan filed in the Enforcement Action a Motion for Leave to

Participate in Hearing in which she argued:

Mr. Wallace's anticipated testimony, and the subject matter of this litigation - namely, the

storage, handling, and mis-handling of computer records from peer-to-peer networks - are

complex and may require detailed explanation. Because of immunity concerns, only Mr.

Wallace's counsel has had the ability to meet with him in advance and confer with him

about the facts and events underlying his testimony. Although Complaint Counsel will

have the opportunity of a brief discovery deposition, counsel for Mr. Wallace has spent

substantial time learning about and understanding the full scope of his actions and

anticipated testimony. Allowing Mr. Wallace's counsel the opportunity to re-direct

following his testimony and cross-examination at hearing would assist the Court and the

parties in obtaining clear and thorough testimony from Mr. Wallace.

Allowing Mr. Wallace's counsel the opportunity for re-direct would also help protect Mr.

Wallace against mis-characterizations of his testimony that could jeopardize his immunity.

Mr. Wallace's immunity is contingent upon truthful testimony, see 18 U.S.C. § 6002, and

19

FILED: NEW YORK COUNTY CLERK 11/21/2018 06:11 PM INDEX NO. 160929/2018

NYSCEF DOC. NO. 1 RECEIVED NYSCEF: 11/21/2018

20 of 39



 20

there is some risk here that confusion or uncertainty arising from examination of a witness, 
without prior preparation on complex matters, could be misconstrued. 
 
This is particularly important as counsel in both the Allegheny County Action and the 
House Oversight Committee investigation are likely to review, if not rely upon, Mr. 
Wallace’s testimony in this action. Mr. Wallace has not yet obtained immunity in those 
actions and may again be required to claim his Fifth Amendment right against self-
incrimination.  Additionally, Plaintiffs’ counsel in the Allegheny County Action has 
already cited orders and filings in this action in its Amended Complaint against Mr. 
Wallace. 
 
Given the gravity of Mr. Wallace’s immunity in this action, the likelihood that his 
testimony will be cited in other actions, and in the interest of effective presentation of 
evidence and the search for truth, counsel for Mr. Wallace respectfully requests leave to 
briefly re-direct Mr. Wallace at the conclusion of his direct testimony and cross-
examination at hearing.  Counsel is not seeking to expand the scope of Mr. Wallace’s 
testimony; rather, counsel seeks to ensure his testimony is clear and complete, in light of 
the immunity concerns and the importance of the issues at hand. 
 

(Emphasis supplied). 

77. Buchanan should have but did not disclose to Sherman on April 29, 2014, or at any 

other time, that Wallace had used the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, 

access and download the 1718 File.  To do so would have disclosed her violation of 18 U.S.C. § 

207. 

78. Wallace testified at the trial of the Enforcement Action on May 5, 2015.  FTC Chief 

Administrative Law Judge D. Michael Chappell was particularly interested in how Wallace 

actually obtained the 1718 File:  

JUDGE CHAPPELL: Let me ask a question.  Sometimes I wait until the end, but there are 
certain phrases of things I need to understand. We've been waiting a long time for Mr. 
Wallace, so I have a few things I just need to understand. I’ve heard you talk about viewing, 
searching and downloading. In the context of your job at Tiversa, tell me what each term 
means, “downloading,” “viewing” and “searching.” Did you do all of these or do they mean 
the same thing? Tell me what they meant in the context of your work. 
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79. Given his immunity from prosecution, Mr. Wallace could have safely disclosed to 

the court that he used the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to access and download 

the 1718 File.  Instead, he gave an incomplete answer and limited his disclosure as follows:  

THE WITNESS: There were multiple positions -- or multiple activities under my position. 
One of them would have been, you know, using a standard, off-the-shelf peer-to-peer 
client, such as LimeWire or BearShare or Kazaa or Morpheus, any of those that are, you 
know, affiliated with the Gnutella network. I would be able to use those clients to 
supplement other information that Tiversa's system possibly hadn’t downloaded.  So it 
would be just another tool to supplement the information that Tiversa would have in the 
data store. 

 
80. Wallace’s answer to Judge Chappell’s question was incomplete and limited 

because, on information and belief, Buchanan and BCLP directed Wallace not to disclose his 

involvement with Buchanan in her prior role as U.S. Attorney and specifically directed Wallace 

not to disclose the fact that he used the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, 

access and download the 1718 File.  Buchanan did not want Wallace to disclose facts that would 

expose her violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207, that would embarrass her due to her involvement in 

Tiversa’s wrongdoing and deprive her and BCLP of further fee income from representing Wallace. 

81. Because Wallace’s testimony was immunized, there would have been no jeopardy 

for him to testify about his prior work with Buchanan and his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool to 

locate, locate and download the 1718 File.  Disclosure of that information would have been helpful 

to the Wallaces in their partnership with Daugherty in the Qui Tam Action, LabMD’s defense in 

the Enforcement Action, Daugherty, LabMD and Wallace’s defense in the Defamation Action and 

other litigation involving Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File. 

82. Buchanan did not fulfill her representations to Verkamp, Sherman or the Court.   

She did not have Wallace testify as to the “full scope of his actions.” Wallace’s testimony was 
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neither “thorough” nor “complete” and instead of her examination reflecting a “locate the truth,” 

she intentionally concealed critical facts. 

83. Buchanan’s self-interest in keeping her violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207 secret and her 

participation in Tiversa’s wrongdoing was so extreme that she was willing to jeopardize her 

client’s immunity by directing him to omit critically important and material facts from his 

testimony.  Although it was in Wallace’s better interests for him to disclose his use of the FBI 

Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan, Buchanan carefully, deceitfully and successfully 

avoided any disclosure by Wallace of the fact that she had worked directly and personally with 

Wallace, Boback and Tiversa by authorizing Tiversa and Wallace to use the FBI Surveillance Tool 
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for illegal and commercial purposes to spy on and take files from companies,8 individuals,9 and 

government agencies.10   

                                                 
8 Examples of confidential corporate files Tiversa has admitted to taking without permission or 
authority include, but are not limited to, confidential, privileged and trade secret information and 
documents related to corporate executives, corporate operations, corporate financials, sales, legal 
matters, wire transfer authorizations, employment records, product launch plans, RFPs and RFQs 
(including highly sensitive corporate plans), documents prepared in anticipation of litigation, 
attorney-client privileged material, drafts of major corporate announcements, merger and 
acquisition plans (including amounts companies are willing to pay), customer lists, customer bank 
statements, records of financial performance, administrative passwords and user IDs to private 
corporate networks, employee performance evaluations, physical security audits showing 
vulnerabilities, employee itineraries, corporate strategies of Fortune 500 companies, minutes of 
board meetings, payrolls, corporate tax records, network diagrams, router access codes, foreign 
exchange system design documents, clinical drug testing before FDA approval, confidential 
corporate accounting documents, building blue prints and floor plans, encryption keys, bank 
material marked “confidential,” customer account lists and competitively sensitive information. 
9 Examples of personal confidential files Tiversa has admitted to taking without permission or 
authority include, but are not limited to, personal and private information and documents such as 
individual tax returns, credit reports, credit card numbers and cards, bank card statements, birth 
certificates, passports, medical records (including psychiatric records), social security numbers 
and cards, drivers’ license numbers, employment applications, user ids and passwords (e.g., online 
banking and brokerage accounts), health insurance cards, mortgage applications, physical threat 
assessments, bank account applications, wire transfer authorizations, wills, trusts, life insurance 
applications, soldiers’ names and social security numbers, salaries, credit card numbers, 
passwords, financial accounts, investment accounts and banking statements. 
10 Examples of government classified files Tiversa has admitted to taking without permission or 
authority include, but are not limited to, classified information and documents relating to the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation (including, for example, surveillance photos of an alleged Mafia 
hit man that were “leaked” while he was on trial), the National Security Administration, military 
personnel, physical threat assessments, military information security systems audits, Pentagon 
server, router and IP information, confidential information on troops (including social security 
numbers and addresses), the President’s helicopter Marine One, safe houses, contractors’ IT 
systems, classified information from multiple foreign governments (including allies), files with 
information regarding the United States Government generally and the Department of Defense and 
various United States Armed Forces, government emergency response plans and military 
operations as well as information that has been determined by the United States Government 
pursuant to an Executive order or statute to require protection against unauthorized disclosure for 
reasons of national defense or foreign relations. 
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84. Buchanan should have but did not solicit testimony from Wallace that he used the 

FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, access and download the 1718 File 

because it would have exposed her violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207. 

85. Disclosure of Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan 

would have been helpful to Wallace because it would have given him immunity from prosecution 

on that topic.  

86. Disclosure of Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan 

would have been helpful to the Wallaces and Daugherty in their joint pursuit of proceeds in the 

Qui Tam Action.  

87. Disclosure of Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan 

would have been helpful to LabMD in its defense in the Enforcement Action.  

88. Disclosure of Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan 

would have been helpful to Daugherty LabMD and Wallace in their defense in the Defamation 

Action (described below). 

89. If Buchanan and BCLP had not concealed Tiversa’s use of the FBI Surveillance 

Tool, LabMD would have either defeated the FTC’s claims with an appropriate motion in the 

Enforcement Action or the FTC would have dropped its prosecution of LabMD, which would have 

given LabMD a chance to resurrect its business and Daugherty a chance to resurrect his 

compensation from and investment in LabMD.  Instead, because of her egocentricity and refusal 

to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 207, a considerable amount of time, attention, LabMD’s money and 

taxpayer dollars were wasted, her client’s defense in the Defamation Action has been jeopardized 

and her client’s partnership with Daugherty has been adversely affected. 
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90. Buchanan did not fulfill her promise to LabMD’s counsel regarding FTC Attorney 

Sheer telling Boback that the FTC needed evidence of “spread” to show that Tiversa had found 

the 1718 File on multiple computers in cyberspace and that the FTC told Tiversa that they needed 

to have the file found on more than the LabMD computer to bring an enforcement action against 

LabMD.   

91. If Buchanan had asked and permitted him to do so, Wallace would have testified in 

the Enforcement Action on May 5, 2015, that he heard FTC attorney Alain Sheer tell Boback that 

the FTC needed evidence of “spread” to show that Tiversa had found the 1718 File on multiple 

computers in cyberspace and that the FTC told Tiversa that they needed to have the file found on 

more than the LabMD computer to bring an enforcement action against LabMD.  This testimony 

would have proved not only that Tiversa’s evidence was false and fabricated but also that FTC 

investigator Alain Sheer knew it was false and fabricated.  

92. If Buchanan had asked and permitted him to do so, Wallace would have testified in 

the Enforcement Action on May 5, 2015, that he used the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by 

Buchanan to locate, access and download the 1718 File. 

93. At some point in 2014 or early 2015, Verkamp learned that Wallace used the FBI 

Surveillance Tool to locate, access and download the 1718 File directly from LabMD.  On 

information and belief, Verkamp and Buchanan discussed Wallace’s use of that tool and for several 

reasons agreed to keep those discussions from Daugherty.    

94. For several years, Buchanan, as Wallace’s counsel, directed Verkamp, who was 

also Wallace’s counsel, not to disclose Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool to Daugherty.  

This was a continuation of Buchanan and BCLP’s inducement and participation in Wallace’s 
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breach of fiduciary duty to Daugherty.  It also created a conflict for Verkamp that caused her to 

breach her professional obligations to Daugherty.  

95. Wallace incurred $165,711.57 in attorneys’ fees and costs for legal representation 

in connection with his testimony in the Enforcement Action, most or all of which was charged by 

Buchanan and BCLP.  Buchanan and BCLP would not have charged any of those fees but for 

Buchanan’s violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207. 

96. On November 13, 2015, FTC Administrative Law Judge Michael D. Chappell ruled 

in favor of LabMD and against the FTC in the Enforcement Action.11  On July 29, 2016, the 

Commission reversed Judge Chappell, ruling in favor of the FTC and against LabMD.12, 13  In 

support of its ruling, the Commission notes at p. 3 that there was nothing special about how 

Wallace obtained the 1718 File: “Mr. Wallace testified that he used a P2P network and standard 

P2P application like LimeWire to download the file from a LabMD IP address in Atlanta, 

Georgia.”  This finding was erroneous, due entirely to Buchanan and BCLP’s concealment of the 

truth. 

                                                 
11 Judge Chappell’s November 13, 2015 Initial Decision, which is incorporated herein by 
reference, may be found at https://www.ftc.gov/enforcement/cases-proceedings/102-3099/labmd-
inc-matter (last viewed on April 28, 2018). 
12 The Commission’s July 29, 2016 Opinion may be found at 
https://www.ftc.gov/enforcement/cases-proceedings/102-3099/labmd-inc-matter (last viewed on 
April 28, 2018). 
13 The Commission Opinion reversing the ALJ’s dismissal of the FTC Complaint is a product of a 
biased administrative process as explained by former FTC Commissioner Joshua Wright based on 
empirical data: “[I]n the past nearly twenty years[,]…in 100 percent of cases where the 
administrative law judge ruled in favor of the FTC staff, the Commission affirmed liability; and in 
100 percent of the cases in which the administrative law judge ruled found no liability, the 
Commission reversed.” Joshua Wright, Commissioner, FTC, Section 5 Revisited: Time for the 
FTC to Define the Scope of Its Unfair Methods of Competition Authority, Symposium on Section 
5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act (Feb. 26, 2015), https://www.ftc.gov/ 
system/files/documents/public_statements/626 811/150226bh_section_5_symposium.pdf. 
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97. On October 31, 2014, Tiversa and Boback added Mr. Wallace as a co-defendant in 

ongoing litigation in the Allegheny County Court of Common Pleas in Pittsburgh (the “Defamation 

Action”) where Tiversa and Boback had earlier sued Daugherty and LabMD for defamation based 

on a book written and published by Daugherty, The Devil Inside the Beltway, where, inter alia, 

Daugherty exposed Tiversa’s shakedown scheme and much of its misconduct with the FTC.  

98. For almost five (5) years now, Tiversa and Boback have successfully maneuvered 

the courts and fought to avoid discovery in lawsuits with Daugherty and LabMD, including the 

Defamation Action.  The purpose of avoiding discovery is to keep Daugherty, LabMD and Wallace 

from further exposing Tiversa and Boback’s frauds and crimes, such as those exposed by Congress 

in the OGR Report and by Wallace in his immunized testimony in the Enforcement Action. 

99. Buchanan, Schell and BCLP have permitted, condoned and endorsed Tiversa and 

Boback’s scheme to avoid discovery in order to avoid exposing Buchanan’s violations of  18 

U.S.C. § 207.  On information and belief, Buchanan had at least one inappropriate ex parte meeting 

with the judge presiding over the Defamation Action where she successfully encouraged that judge 

to forestall discovery.  As a result of their conduct, there has been no discovery in the Defamation 

Action for over five years.  

100. Buchanan, Schell and BCLP have deprived Wallace and Daugherty with discovery 

in the Defamation Action that could have been used in the Qui Tam Action to benefit the 

partnership between Wallace and Daugherty. 

101. Buchanan was motivated by her own personal interests to avoid any discovery in 

the Defamation Action because discovery in that action would have inevitably revealed Wallace’s 

use of the FBI Surveillance Tool and, therefore, Buchanan’s violation of 18 U.S.C. § 207.  This 

avoidance was part of a pattern of continued efforts by Buchanan, Schell and BCLP to interfere 
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with the partnership between Wallace and Daugherty in order to conceal Buchanan’s violations of 

18 U.S.C. § 207. 

102. Daugherty has learned in direct conversations with Wallace that, contrary to 

positions taken by Buchanan, Schell and BCLP in the Defamation Action, he was never interested 

in delaying discovery in the Defamation Action.  

103. In early 2017, Wallace disclosed to Daugherty that, as a Tiversa employee, he used 

the FBI Surveillance Tool provided by Buchanan to locate, access and download the 1718 File.  

This was the first time that LabMD or Daugherty heard about Tiversa and Wallace’s use of that 

tool.  This disclosure, however, came long after LabMD needed the evidence to defend itself in an 

administrative enforcement action filed by the FTC – an action that was fueled by Tiversa’s false 

testimony and fabricated evidence. 

104. Buchanan was upset and belligerent when she learned that Wallace told Daugherty 

about his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool.  Buchanan refused to discuss the matter with Daugherty 

and LabMD’s counsel, made false allegations of misconduct against said counsel, claimed that 

Daugherty and LabMD would jeopardize Wallace’s immunity if they disclosed this information, 

alleged that the information was protected by Wallace’s Fifth Amendment privilege against self-

incrimination and alleged that the hard drive Wallace gave to Congress and the FBI (revealing his 

use of the FBI Surveillance Tool) was protected by “oral” immunity agreements with individuals 

Buchanan refused to identify.  

105. Buchanan and BCLP have charged Mr. Wallace at least $315,219.82 in attorneys’ 

fees and costs for legal representation in the Defamation Action.  Buchanan and BCLP would not 

have charged those fees if Buchanan had complied with the prohibitions in 18 U.S.C. § 207 or if 

her violations of 18 U.S.C. § 207 were exposed.   
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106. Buchanan left BCLP on or about May 3, 2018.  But Buchanan and BCLP failed and 

refused to withdraw from representing Wallace in the Defamation Action until August 24, 2018.   

107. Jacqueline Schell, Buchanan’s associate at BCLP and co-counsel for Wallace in the 

Defamation Action also left BCLP on or about May 3, 2018.  Schell failed and refused to withdraw 

from representing Wallace in the Defamation Action until August 6, 2018.  

108. Buchanan, Schell and BCLP’s refusals to withdraw from representing Wallace in 

the Defamation Action were intentional choices by Buchanan, Schell and BCLP to prevent 

Daugherty and Wallace from pursuing their partnership, to prevent Daugherty and LabMD’s 

counsel from working with Wallace’s substitute counsel in the Defamation and Qui Tam Actions, 

to prevent Daugherty and LabMD from obtaining information from Wallace regarding the 

allegations in this lawsuit and to interfere with Daugherty’s need for Wallace’s information and 

assistance in the Qui Tam Action.   

109. Buchanan, Schell and BCLP’s refusals to withdraw from representing Wallace 

were part of a pattern of continued efforts to interfere with the partnership between Wallace and 

Daugherty and to induce further violations of Wallace’s fiduciary duties to Daugherty.  This 

conduct constitutes a continuing tort.  

COUNT I – NEGLIGENT OMISSIONS 
 

110. Daugherty and LabMD incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of their complaint as 

if stated in full herein. 

111. By virtue of the partnership between Daugherty and the Wallaces, Buchanan and 

BCLP had a special, fiduciary and privity-like relationship with Daugherty that imposed on them 

a duty to impart correct and complete information. 
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112. Buchanan and BCLP had superior knowledge of the essential fact that Wallace used 

the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, access and download the 1718 File. 

113. Buchanan and BCLP were aware of Daugherty and Wallace’s fiduciary relationship 

with one another and were further aware of the relevance of Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance 

Tool, yet for years they directed Wallace to conceal his and Tiversa’s use of that tool, and thereby 

breach his fiduciary duty to Daugherty, in order to conceal Buchanan’s involvement and 

consequent violations of 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).  Wallace would not have breached his fiduciary 

duties to Daugherty but for Buchanan and BCLP’s inducement and participation in that breach. 

114. Specifically, Buchanan and BCLP failed to disclose to Daugherty and LabMD that 

Wallace used the FBI Surveillance Tool and equipment authorized by Buchanan to locate, access 

and download the 1718 File directly and only from a LabMD computer in Atlanta, Georgia. 

115. Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, 

access and download the 1718 File directly from a LabMD computer in Atlanta, Georgia is 

information that is material to Wallace and Daugherty’s partnership. 

116. Buchanan and BCLP knew or should have known that their and their client’s silence 

would mislead Daugherty, LabMD, FTC Counsel, ALJ Chappell, the Commission and various 

state and federal trial and appellate courts that have presided over related litigation. 

117. Buchanan and BCLP negligently kept silent and directed their client to be silent 

regarding Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan with the result that 

Daugherty, LabMD, FTC Counsel, ALJ Chappell, the Commission, the Eleventh Circuit Court of 

Appeals, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, the United States District Court for the 

Western District of Pennsylvania, the United States District Court for the Southern District of New 
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York, the Allegheny County Court of Common Pleas and other courts addressing matters related 

to Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File have been misled. 

118. If Wallace had disclosed his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool, FTC Counsel would 

have withdrawn the complaint against LabMD.  And even if they would not have done so, ALJ 

Chappell would have either summarily dismissed the complaint or included factual findings in his 

ruling that would have caused the Commission to affirm his Initial Decision.  Instead, as a result 

of Buchanan and BCLP’s misconduct, the Commission was led to believe that Wallace used 

standard, off-the-shelf software like LimeWire to search for, access and download the 1718 File.  

This caused the Commission to erroneously conclude that LabMD made the 1718 File available 

to anyone using LimeWire.   

119. Buchanan and BCLP’s misconduct has also caused the District of Columbia Court 

of Appeals to make a similar erroneous finding in Daugherty and LabMD’s lawsuit against certain 

FTC employees (the “Bivens Action”).   

120.  Buchanan and BCLP’s conduct has also caused LabMD and Daugherty substantial 

trouble and expense in various lawsuits by and against Tiversa and Boback. 

121. If Buchanan and BCLP had disclosed or allowed their client to disclose Wallace’s 

use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan, LabMD would have used that 

information to its benefit in the Enforcement Action, the Qui Tam Action, the Defamation Action, 

the Bivens Action and in other actions relating to Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File. 

122. Daugherty and LabMD justifiably relied on Buchanan and BCLP’s silence and their 

client’s silence regarding Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan. 

123. Daugherty and LabMD were damaged by Buchanan and BCLP’s negligent 

omissions in amounts to be proven at trial. 
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COUNT II – FRAUDULENT OMISSIONS 
 

124. Daugherty and LabMD incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of their complaint as 

if stated in full herein. 

125. Buchanan and BCLP, as counsel to Wallace, failed to disclose and directed their 

client not to disclose to LabMD and Daugherty the fact that Wallace used the FBI Surveillance 

Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, access and download the 1718 File directly from a LabMD 

computer in Atlanta, Georgia.  This fact was known to Buchanan and BCLP when Wallace testified 

in the Enforcement Action on May 5, 2015. 

126. Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan to locate, 

access and download the 1718 File directly from a LabMD computer in Atlanta, Georgia was 

material and, due to Wallace’s partnership with Daugherty, Buchanan and BCLP had a duty to 

disclose it and to allow their client to disclose it to Daugherty and LabMD. 

127. Buchanan and BCLP had superior knowledge of the essential fact that Wallace used 

the FBI Surveillance Tool to locate, access and download the 1718 File. 

128. Buchanan and BCLP were aware of Daugherty and Wallace’s fiduciary relationship 

with one another and were further aware of the relevance of Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance 

Tool, yet for years they directed Wallace to conceal his and Tiversa’s use of that tool, and thereby 

breach his fiduciary duty to Daugherty, in order to conceal Buchanan’s involvement and 

consequent violations of 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).  Wallace would not have breached his fiduciary 

duties to Daugherty but for Buchanan and BCLP’s inducement and participation in that breach. 

129. Buchanan and BCLP knew that their and their client’s silence would fraudulently 

mislead Daugherty and LabMD.  Buchanan and BCLP kept silent and directed their client to keep 
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silent regarding Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan in order to 

fraudulently mislead Daugherty and LabMD and Daugherty and LabMD were, in fact, misled. 

130. Buchanan and BCLP knew or should have known that their and their client’s silence 

would mislead Daugherty, LabMD, FTC Counsel, ALJ Chappell, the Commission and various 

state and federal trial and appellate courts that have presided over related litigation. 

131. Buchanan and BCLP intentionally and fraudulently kept silent and directed their 

client to be silent regarding Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan 

with the result that Daugherty, LabMD, FTC Counsel, ALJ Chappell, the Commission, the 

Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, the United States 

District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, the United States District Court for the 

Southern District of New York, the Allegheny County Court of Common Pleas and other courts 

addressing matters related to Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File have been misled. 

132. If Wallace had disclosed his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool, FTC Counsel would 

have withdrawn the complaint against LabMD.  And even if they would not have done so, ALJ 

Chappell would have either summarily dismissed the complaint or included factual findings in his 

ruling that would have caused the Commission to affirm his Initial Decision.  Instead, as a result 

of Buchanan and BCLP’s misconduct, the Commission was led to believe that Wallace used 

standard, off-the-shelf software like LimeWire to search for, access and download the 1718 File.  

This caused the Commission to erroneously conclude that LabMD made the 1718 File available 

to anyone using LimeWire.   

133. Buchanan and BCLP’s misconduct has also caused the District of Columbia Court 

of Appeals to make a similar erroneous finding in Daugherty and LabMD’s lawsuit against certain 

FTC employees (the “Bivens Action”).   
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134.  Buchanan and BCLP’s conduct has also caused LabMD and Daugherty substantial 

trouble and expense in various lawsuits by and against Tiversa and Boback. 

135. If Buchanan and BCLP had disclosed or allowed their client to disclose Wallace’s 

use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan, LabMD would have used that 

information to its benefit in the Enforcement Action, the Qui Tam Action, the Defamation Action, 

the Bivens Action and in other actions relating to Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File. 

136. Buchanan and BCLP’s silence and their direction to Wallace to keep silent was 

intended to mislead Daugherty and LabMD and did, in fact, mislead them. 

137. Daugherty and LabMD justifiably relied on Buchanan, Wallace and BCLP’s 

silence regarding Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan.  If 

Buchanan and BCLP had disclosed or allowed their client to disclose Wallace’s use of the FBI 

Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan, LabMD would have used that information to its benefit 

in the Enforcement Action, the Qui Tam Action, the Defamation Action and in other actions 

involving Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File. 

138. Buchanan and BCLP’s willful and wanton conduct represents a conscious disregard 

of the rights of others or was so reckless as to amount to such disregard. 

139. Daugherty and LabMD were damaged by Buchanan and BCLP’s fraudulent 

omissions in amounts to be proven at trial. 

COUNT III – VIOLATIONS OF JUDICIARY LAW § 487 
 

140. Daugherty and LabMD incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of their complaint as 

if stated in full herein. 
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141. Buchanan and BCLP are guilty of deceit and collusion, and have consented to 

deceit and collusion with the intent to deceive one or more courts, including ALJ Chappell and the 

Commissioners as well as LabMD and Daugherty. 

142. Buchanan and BCLP’s misconduct with a view toward their own gain caused a 

wilful delay in the Enforcement Action, the Qui Tam Action, the Defamation Action and other 

litigation involving misconduct by FTC employees and Tiversa. 

143. Daugherty and LabMD were damaged by Buchanan and BCLP’s violations of 

Judiciary Law § 487 in amounts to be determined at trial.  

COUNT IV – INDUCING OR PARTICIPATING IN BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY 
 

144. Daugherty and LabMD incorporate the foregoing paragraphs of their complaint as 

if stated in full herein. 

145. Wallace had fiduciary duties to Daugherty by virtue of his and Daugherty’s 

partnership and sharing arrangement in the Qui Tam Action. 

146. Buchanan and BCLP were aware of Daugherty and Wallace’s fiduciary relationship 

with one another and were further aware of the relevance of Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance 

Tool, yet for years they directed Wallace to conceal his and Tiversa’s use of that tool, and thereby 

breach his fiduciary duty to Daugherty, in order to conceal Buchanan’s involvement and 

consequent violations of 18 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).  Wallace would not have breached his fiduciary 

duties to Daugherty but for Buchanan and BCLP’s inducement and participation in that breach. 

147. Buchanan and BCLP knowingly induced or participated in the breach in order to 

defraud LabMD and Daugherty. 
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148. Buchanan and BCLP knew or should have known that their and their client’s silence 

would mislead Daugherty, LabMD, FTC Counsel, ALJ Chappell, the Commission and various 

state and federal trial and appellate courts that have presided over related litigation. 

149. Buchanan and BCLP intentionally and fraudulently kept silent and directed their 

client to be silent regarding Wallace’s use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan 

with the result that Daugherty, LabMD, FTC Counsel, ALJ Chappell, the Commission, the 

Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, the District of Columbia Court of Appeals, the United States 

District Court for the Western District of Pennsylvania, the United States District Court for the 

Southern District of New York, the Allegheny County Court of Common Pleas and other courts 

addressing matters related to Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File have been misled. 

150. If Wallace had disclosed his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool, FTC Counsel would 

have withdrawn the complaint against LabMD.  And even if they would not have done so, ALJ 

Chappell would have either summarily dismissed the complaint or included factual findings in his 

ruling that would have caused the Commission to affirm his Initial Decision.  Instead, as a result 

of Buchanan and BCLP’s misconduct, the Commission was led to believe that Wallace used 

standard, off-the-shelf software like LimeWire to search for, access and download the 1718 File.  

This caused the Commission to erroneously conclude that LabMD made the 1718 File available 

to anyone using LimeWire.   

151. Buchanan and BCLP’s misconduct has also caused the District of Columbia Court 

of Appeals to make a similar erroneous finding in Daugherty and LabMD’s lawsuit against certain 

FTC employees (the “Bivens Action”).   

152.  Buchanan and BCLP’s conduct has also caused LabMD and Daugherty substantial 

trouble and expense in various lawsuits by and against Tiversa and Boback. 
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153. If Buchanan and BCLP had disclosed or allowed their client to disclose Wallace’s 

use of the FBI Surveillance Tool authorized by Buchanan, LabMD would have used that 

information to its benefit in the Enforcement Action, the Qui Tam Action, the Defamation Action, 

the Bivens Action and in other actions relating to Tiversa’s theft of the 1718 File. 

154. Buchanan and BCLP succeeded in defrauding LabMD and Daugherty by directing 

Wallace not to disclose his use of the FBI Surveillance Tool and thereby breach his fiduciary duties 

to Daugherty. 

155. Daugherty and LabMD were damaged as a result of Buchanan and BCLP’s 

inducement and participation in Wallace’s breach of fiduciary duties in amounts to be determined 

at trial. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 

WHEREFORE, Daugherty and LabMD respectfully pray for the following relief: 

(a)  that Daugherty and LabMD receive a trial by jury; 

(b)  that the Court enter judgment in favor of Daugherty and LabMD, and against 

Buchanan and BCLP in amounts to be proven at trial, including awarding against each 

defendant actual, special, consequential, compensatory and treble damages; 

(c)  that judgment be entered awarding punitive damages to Daugherty and LabMD and 

against Buchanan and BCLP; 

(d)  that Daugherty and LabMD be awarded their reasonable attorneys’ fees; 

(f)  that Daugherty and LabMD be awarded pre-judgment and post-judgment interest 

as provided by New York law; and 

(g)  that Daugherty and LabMD be awarded their costs, disbursements, and such other 

and further relief as the Court deems just and proper. 
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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED. 
 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

Dated: November 21, 2018 
 Rockville Centre, NY 
 

By:_ __________ 
Anthony A. Onorato 
FISHERBROYLES LLP 
445 Park Avenue, 9th Floor 
New York, NY 10022 
(646) 397-4750 
tony.onorato@fisherbroyles.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
 

 
Of Counsel (pro hac vice application forthcoming): 
 
James W. Hawkins 
Georgia State Bar No. 338767 
JAMES W. HAWKINS, LLC 
11339 Musette Circle 
Alpharetta, GA 30009 
V: 678-697-1278 
F: 678-540-4515 
jhawkins@jameswhawkinsllc.com 
Attorney for Plaintiffs 
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